THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

APR 10 2017

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002131

Circuit Court Case No. 2009-CP-10-6746

---

Long Grove at Seaside Farms, LLC; The Beach Company; Gulfstream Construction  
Company, Inc., Respondents,

v.

Long Grove Property Owners' Association, Inc.; Vista Realty Partners, LLC; and Long Grove  
Vista, LLC;

Of Whom Long Grove Property Owners' Association is Petitioner.

Long Grove Property Owners' Association, Inc., Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. DID THE COURT ERR BY HOLDING THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND ARCHITECT CAN WAIVE LIABILITY FOR VIOLATIONS OF STATUTORILY ENACTED BUILDING CODES?
2. DID THE COURT ERR BY FAILING TO APPLY S.C. CODE § 32-2-10 WHICH PROHIBITS EXCULPATORY CONTRACTS FOR CONTRACTORS AND ARCHITECTS IN AGREEMENTS RELATED TO CONSTRUCTION?
3. DID THE COURT ERR BY HOLDING THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND ARCHITECT CAN DISCLAIM THEIR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF WORKMANSHIP AND SUFFICIENCY OF PLANS, EVEN THOUGH SUCH WARRANTIES ARISE FROM INDEPENDENT LEGAL DUTIES IMPOSED BY LAW?
4. DID THE COURT ERR IN HOLDING THE PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION IS BOUND BY THE DISCLAIMER ENTERED INTO BY ITS PREDECESSOR IN TITLE, EVEN THOUGH THE MANIFESTATION OF DAMAGES DID NOT OCCUR UNTIL THE POA'S OWNERSHIP?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises from an effort by a general contractor and architect to evade their legal obligations and ultimate responsibility for the defective and deficient design and construction of the Long Grove Horizontal Property Regime. The contractor and architect seek to circumvent and contravene statutorily imposed building codes and long established duties and standards set by public policy, relying on suspect language in a private contract between the original developer and the converter of the condominium project, in order to exculpate themselves from ultimate liability for their breach of duties owed to the general public and specifically the owners at Long Grove.

In 1999-2000, The Beach Company<sup>1</sup> developed the Long Grove Apartments, a 272 unit project in the Seaside Farms Subdivision in Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina. The project was designed by James, Harwick & Partners, Inc. (hereinafter “Architect” or “JHP”) and constructed by Gulfstream Construction Company, Inc. (hereinafter “Contractor” or “Gulfstream”), a subsidiary of The Beach Company.

After operating Long Grove as an apartment rental complex for four years, in 2004 The Beach Company elected to sell Long Grove to Vista Realty, Inc., which intended to convert the apartments into condominiums. As part of the negotiated terms for the sale, The Beach Company required Vista to purchase the property “as is”, “with all defects”; disclaiming all warranties; and agreeing to an assumption of liabilities and a release of claims, including unknown claims and damages which may arise in the future. Vista further agreed to place within the master deed of the new condominium regime notice of the disclaimer, release, and assumption of liabilities which Vista had executed and intended to bind the new Regime. It is this disclaimer and release which is the subject of this appeal.

In 2009, upon discovering numerous and severe construction deficiencies, The Long Grove Property Owners Association (POA) notified The Beach Company of the discovered latent defects, and provided The Beach Company the statutory right to cure prior to filing suit. The Beach Company responded by filing this declaratory judgment action on behalf of itself and Contractor.<sup>2</sup> The POA counterclaimed for defective construction, naming additional parties to the suit.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Beach Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Long Grove at Seaside Farms, LLC, were the developers of the Project, and are hereinafter jointly referred to as “The Beach Company”.

<sup>2</sup> This action was commenced on October 26, 2009

Judge Michael Baxley granted summary judgment to The Beach Company, the Architect and the Contractor based upon the disclaimer and release in the Vista contract.<sup>3</sup> The South Carolina Court of Appeals adopted Judge Baxley's Order in full as the opinion of the Court. (R. pp.1-41). On motion for rehearing, Appellant Long Grove abandoned its appeal as to the developer, The Beach Company, and elected to proceed only as against the Architect and Contractor for their negligence in violating numerous building codes and their breach of implied warranties of proper workmanship.<sup>4</sup>

Petitioner Long Grove challenges the validity and enforceability of the disclaimer and release as an exculpatory contract in violation of public policy. The release as executed by The Beach Company and Vista is included in the Long Grove Master Deed at Paragraph 24 on Page 43, in non-descript type, providing:

24. RELEASE.

Declarant purchased the property comprising the Regime from Long Grove at Seaside Farms, LLC ("Long Grove") on March 7, 2005. In the Sales Contract between Long Grove and Declarant, dated January 18, 2005, to convey the property comprising the Regime to Declarant, Declarant agreed to include the following provision regarding release in this Master Deed:

Save and excepting only the limited warranty of title hereinafter set forth and herein contained, the property comprising the Regime was conveyed to Declarant in the sale on March 7, 2005 noted above strictly on an "as is", "where is" and "with all defects" basis, without representation, warranty or covenant, express, implied or statutory, of any kind whatsoever, including, without limitation, representation, warranty or covenant as to condition (structural, environmental, mechanical or otherwise), past or present use, construction, development, lease performance, investment potential, tax ramifications or consequences, income, compliance with law, habitability, tenancies, merchantability, or fitness or suitability for any purpose, all of which are hereby

---

<sup>3</sup> Summary judgment motion was heard on September 27, 2011; re-heard on April 30, 2012; and Order granting judgment in favor of The Beach Co. dated July 26, 2012.

<sup>4</sup> By Order dated September 18, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied Appellant's Petition for Rehearing. This Petition for Writ of Certiorari followed.

expressly disclaimed. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Owners acknowledge that Declarant's predecessor in title, Long Grove and its Affiliates (as herein defined) have made no representation, warranties or covenants as to the compliance of the property comprising the Regime with any federal, state, or local statutes, laws, rules, or regulations or ordinances, including, without limitation, those pertaining to construction, rent control, building and health codes, land use (or permits issued in connection therewith), zoning, lead paint, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, asbestos, hazardous or toxic wastes or substances, pollutants, contaminants or other environmental matters.

The Owners acknowledge that the property comprising the Regime was originally developed and constructed by Long Grove and its Affiliates (as herein defined). Declarant purchased the property comprising the Regime for the purpose of converting such property into condominiums which it is or will be selling to the public. Declarant assumed all responsibility for identifying and correcting all defects or problems, if any, that existed, to ensure that the property comprising the Regime is properly constructed and suitable for use as condominiums in accordance with all applicable building regulations, codes, standards, and other applicable laws and requirements.

Accordingly, as part of the valuable consideration exchanged in the sale transaction on March 7, 2005 noted above, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Declarant on behalf of itself and its heirs, representatives, successors, and assigns (including the Owners and all other successors-in-title to all or a portion of the property comprising the Regime), agreed to never sue and completely release Long Grove, The Beach Co., Gulfstream Construction Company, its affiliates, agents, officers, directors, employees, insurers, representatives, successors, assigns, and all other companies, partnerships, entities, or Persons (collectively, the "Affiliates") involved in the design, development and/or construction of the apartment buildings and apartments therein and all other improvements prior to March 7, 2005, for and from any and all claims of every kind whatsoever arising from or related to the development, design, construction, maintenance, alteration, or repair of the property comprising the Regime, including unknown and unforeseen claims that may now exist or that may arise in the future.

Declarant and the Owners acknowledge and agree that the assumption of liability and release of claims above is intended to be binding on all subsequent grantees of the property comprising the Regime, the grantees of any condominiums or other subdivisions of the property comprising the Regime, and the Owners. In order to give effect to this intention, these provisions are included in this Master Deed, and will also be included in any other conveyances outside the coverage of this Master Deed.

(Master Deed, p. 43, R. pp. 654-655). This is essentially the same language of disclaimer and release in the Sales Contract between The Beach Company and Vista. The "release" language is inconspicuous, has the same heading and same font as every other paragraph of the Master Deed, and is not accentuated or emphasized in any way.

Today the Long Grove POA residences suffer from severe construction defects including: (1) Lack of proper window, chimney, and roof flashings; (2) Failure of balcony waterproofing; (3) improper brick installation; (4) Decay of structural building components as a result of leaks at windows, decks, roofs; (5) Mold infestation; (6) Lack of code compliant fire protection; and (7) Lack of proper architectural details at balconies, roof, chimneys, attics, brick, and windows causing water intrusion and decay of building components. (Affidavit of Peter Sherratt, AIA, R. pp. 383-384). Due to the negligence and breach of warranties of Gulfstream and JHP, the POA and the individual unit owners now face millions of dollars in repairs.

### **ARGUMENTS**

The Court of Appeals adopted the Circuit Court Order without analysis and failed to discuss or analyze the critical issues presented on appeal and failed to cite supporting legal authority. Appellants sought certiorari in order to address the numerous novel issues presented, including:

- Can the contractor and architect disclaim liability for building code violations?
- Can a contractor disclaim the implied warranty of good and proper workmanship?
- Can an architect disclaim the implied warranty of the suitability of his plans and specifications?
- Does the Anti-Indemnity Statute (S.C. Code § 32-2-10) prohibit a contractor or architect from disclaiming liability for its statutorily imposed obligations and duties?
- Is the “disclaimer, release and assumption of liability” an exculpatory contract in

violation of public policy?

- Can the contractor and architect delegate responsibility for complying with the building code, thereby escaping liability?
- Is a subsequent purchaser bound by the disclaimer and release entered into by his predecessor in title, even when damages first manifest themselves only during the subsequent purchaser's ownership?

These are all issues decided by the trial court with no discussion of the public policy implications nor the legal authority to support it. The trial court itself in its Order recognized this case raises novel questions of whether a developer of real property can: (1) disclaim to current and subsequent buyers any and all warranties; (2) permanently release itself from any liability for the condition of such improvement; and (3) require the buyer to assume any and all related liability therefrom. However, the Order fails to address the novel issues of whether an architect and contractor can also disclaim liability and "opt out" of required building codes and industry standards; disclaim liability for their professional negligence; and disclaim warranties implied by law. The Order fails to provide legal analysis or authority to support the holdings on these "novel" questions presented to the Court.

**I. THE COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR AND ARCHITECT CAN WAIVE LIABILITY FOR VIOLATIONS OF THEIR STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS TO COMPLY WITH BUILDING CODES**

The Court ignores that the "release" at issue violates public policy and enables Gulfstream and JHP to evade codes and regulations adopted by the Legislature to protect purchasers from defective design and construction practices. Our Legislature has declared the public policy for South Carolina to require minimum standards of construction to protect the

general public (SC Code § 6-9-5). General contractors and architects are bound by the building codes imposed to regulate the construction industry, and these standards and obligations cannot be waived by private contract. The Court allows Gulfstream and JHP to avoid their statutory obligations, contravene the statutes, and violate the public policy of this state, but provides no case law, analysis or authority to support such novel position, which is antithetical to the law and policy of our State.

**A. Gulfstream And JHP Owed A Duty Of Care To the Long Grove Homeowners And Property Owners Association To Design And Build The Project In Accordance With Building Codes And Industry Standards**

In Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber, 299 S.C. 335, 347, 384 S.E.2d 730, 737 (1989), our Supreme Court held that a violation of a building code violates a legal duty and that “a cause of action in negligence will be available where a builder has violated a legal duty, no matter the type of resulting damage.” The Supreme Court held:

The Court of Appeals itself correctly recognized in Kincaid v. Landing Dev. Corp., 289 S.C. 89, 344 S.E.2d 869 (Ct.App.1986) that a violation of a building code violates a legal duty for which a builder can be held liable in tort for proximately caused losses. Terlinde, 275 S.C. at 399, 271 S.E.2d at 770, imposes a legal duty on builders to undertake construction commensurate with industry standards. Where a building code or industry standard does not apply, public policy further demands the imposition of a legal duty on a builder to refrain from constructing housing that he knows or should know will pose serious risks of physical harm. We recognized such a duty, which should extend to foreseeable parties, in Rogers, 251 S.C. at 134, 161 S.E.2d at 84 . . .

Id. at 346, 384 S.E.2d at 737. Gulfstream and JHP were compelled to design and build to the minimum requirements set forth in the various building codes and industry standards. *See, e.g., Id.; Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. vs. Jordon, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 49, 463 S.E.2d 85 (1995) (a design professional owes a professional duty to the plaintiff which arises separate and distinct from any contractual duties between the parties *or with third parties*).

Violations of building codes are negligence per se and are evidence of recklessness and willfulness supporting punitive damages. Kennedy, 299 S.C. 335, 384 S.E.2d 730; Terlinde vs. Neely, 275 S.C. 395, 271 S.E.2d 768 (1980) (a general contractor owes a duty of care to construct within industry standards). The Court's Order is simply wrong when it concludes that Gulfstream and JHP did not owe a duty of care to the POA.

Today we present the novel question of whether liability for building code violations may be waived by contractual agreement, and further whether such liability may be waived and disclaimed by a contract entered into by two developers, to which the contractor and architect are not parties. By ignoring the clear language of Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber, the Court avoids analyzing this novel issue of law, ignores the demands of public policy, and reaches a conclusion in conflict with prior case law.

**B. General Contractors And Architects Cannot Waive Liability For Non-delegable Duties Imposed By Statutory, Regulatory And Common Law**

In an effort to escape from its liability, The Beach Company improperly attempt to delegate to Vista all duties to ensure the buildings were built in accordance with the building codes and industry standards and constructed in a good and workmanlike manner. The contract between the Developer/Seller and Vista provided at Paragraph 15, Assumption of Liability and Release of Claims:

[Vista] assumes all responsibility for identifying and correcting all defects or problems . . . to ensure that the property is properly constructed...in accordance with all applicable building regulations, codes, standards and other applicable laws and requirements.

(R. p. 71). This provision attempts to delegate to Vista the obligations owed by Gulfstream and JHP, as General Contractor and Architect, to assure compliance with building codes and industry standards, while simultaneously attempting to relieve the Contractor and Architect of their

statutorily mandated duty to protect the public from defective and dangerous construction.

A non-delegable duty will be imposed where an “absolute duty” is owed to another, or as explained by our Supreme Court, “[a] person or entity entrusted with *important duties* in certain circumstances may not assign those duties to someone else and then expect to walk away unscathed when things go wrong.” Simmons v. Tuomey Regional Medical Center, 341 S.C. 32, 44, 533 S.E.2d 312, 318 (2000) (holding that a hospital owes a nondelegable duty based on public policy considerations). As the Court of Appeals has stated:

an employer who, by reason of his calling or the business in which he is engaged, **owes special legal duties and obligations to the public** or to those with whom there exists some contractual relation cannot shirk or evade such special duties and obligations by committing its performance to another; he is bound absolutely to perform the obligation, and he is liable for a failure to do so in any respect whereby injury results to others.

Carson v. Vance, 326 S.C. 543, 550, 485 S.E.2d 126, 130 (Ct. App. 1997).

"The real effect of finding a duty to be non-delegable is to render not the duty, but the liability, non-delegable; the person subject to a non-delegable duty is certainly free to delegate the duty, but will be liable to third parties for any negligence of the delegatee, regardless of any fault on the part of the delegator." Nedrow v. Pruitt, 336 S.C. 668, 521 S.E. 2d. 755 (SC 1999). As a matter of public policy, the imposition of a non-delegable duty serves to provide compensation to innocent victims and “to give parties with crucial duties a keen incentive to avoid violating those duties. Simmons, 341 S.C. at 49, 533 S.E.2d at 321.

Once they undertook the design and construction of Long Grove, Respondents, regardless of their contracts, were obligated to comply with the duties created by building codes, laws, and regulations. These provisions, enacted by the Legislature to protect the public health, safety and welfare, are **owed to the public** and, thus, are non-delegable. *See e.g.*, Simmons, 341 S.C. 32, 533 S.E.2d 312. This position is widely accepted and has been adopted by the American Law

Institute:

One who by statute or by administrative regulation is under a duty to provide specified safeguards or precautions for the safety of others is subject to liability to the others for whose protection the duty is imposed for harm caused by the failure of a contractor employed by him to provide such safeguards or precautions.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 424, at 411 (1965); Evard v. S. California Edison, 153 Cal. App. 4th 137, 147 (2007) (“The duty to comply with applicable safety regulations and statutes is a nondelegable duty.”); Dow v. Holly Mfg. Co., 321 P.2d 736. (Cal. 1958)(a general contractor has a nondelegable duty to construct a building safely); Amann v. City of Tacoma, 16 P.2d 601, 606 (Wash. 1932)(by undertaking to do work pursuant to a building permit, a builder assumes a nondelegable duty to ensure that the work is performed in compliance with the building code); Gardenvillage Realty Corp. v. Russo, 366 A.2d 101, 108–09 (Md. App. 1976)(building code provisions affirmatively placed responsibility on builder, as permit holder, to ensure that construction was code compliant: permit holder was in the best position to oversee the work and its compliance with building codes.); Atlantic Nat. Bank of Jacksonville v. Modular Age, Inc., 363 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 1st Dist. App. 1978) (an architect has a non-delegable duty to ensure the plans and specifications comply with building codes); Hubert v. Aitken, 15 Daly, 237, 2 N. Y. Supp. 711 (1888); Johnson v. Salem Title Co., 425 P.2d 519, 522 (Or. 1967) (An architect who undertakes to design a building has a non-delegable duty to meet the minimum safety standards of the building code’s design provisions).

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