ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal From The Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. **2015-002131**
Case No. 2009-CP-10-6746

RECEIVED

JUN 29 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Long Grove at Seaside Farms, LLC; The
Beach Company; and Gulfstream Construction
Company, Inc.

Respondents.

v.

Long Grove Property Owners' Association,
Inc.; Vista Realty Partners, LLC; and Long
Grove Vista, LLC;

Of Whom Long Grove Property Owners'
Association, Inc. is the

Petitioner.

Long Grove Property Owners' Association, Inc.

Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

James Harwick & Partners, Inc. n/k/a JHP

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

III. ARGUMENT AND CITIATION OF AUTHORITY

A. THE POA HAS NO ABILITY OR RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE TERMS OF THE SALES CONTRACT BY WHICH VISTA WAIVED AND RELEASED THE RIGHTS AND CLAIMS AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE.¹²

1. *The POA lacks standing to challenge the terms of the contract between Vista and LGSF, and it waived the right to appeal the circuit court’s finding that it lacked standing when it failed to raise the issue in its brief.*

As a preliminary matter, the Court should find the POA waived the right to challenge the terms of the Vista and LGSF contract as the POA failed to raise the issue in its brief. “Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground [is] the law of the case.”¹³

The circuit court held the POA “lacks proper standing to raise a contractual argument as to the enforceability of the provisions contained within the contract.” (R. 38). In its current brief, the POA attempts to step into Vista’s shoes and challenge the content and enforceability of the releases and disclaimers in the sales agreement between LGSF and Vista. The POA’s brief repeats the same argument in a variety of ways; however, in

¹⁰ Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003); George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868.

¹¹ Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co., 267 S.C. 607, 610, 230 S.E.2d 447, 448 (1976).

¹² This argument responds to all of the POA’s issues attacking the Sales Contract’s validity and enforceability. This argument specifically responds to the POA’s assertions the circuit court erred by failing to find the release was an exculpatory contract.

¹³ Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010).

all of its arguments the POA fails to appeal the circuit court's determination it lacked standing to challenge the enforceability of the provisions contained in the Sales Contract between LGSF and Vista. It is the law of the case that the POA lacks standing to challenge the Sales Contract's terms.¹⁴ Accordingly, this Court may affirm the circuit court's grant of summary judgment on the grounds that the POA lacks standing to challenge the terms of the Sales Contract and the POA failed to appeal this ruling.

2. **The POA is not a party to any contract—exculpatory or otherwise—with LGSF, Gulfstream, or JHP.**

When reading the POA's Brief it is easy to lose sight of an important concept: *There is no contract of any kind between the POA and either Gulfstream or JHP.* The POA cannot now attempt to step into Vista's shoes and retroactively argue against the fairness and enforceability of the terms of the Sales Contract under which LGSF sold the used apartment complex to Vista and in which Vista waived and released the claims against Gulfstream and JHP that the POA now attempts to assert. Therefore, even if the POA has properly preserved the issue of whether it has standing to challenge the terms of the Sales Contract, this Court should find that the POA lacks the ability to challenge the validity and enforceability of the terms of the Sales Contract agreed to by Vista as part of its bargained for consideration when Vista purchased the used apartment property from LGSF.

Generally, nonparties to a contract do not have standing to challenge its enforceability.¹⁵ The POA was not a party to the Sales Contract, or to any of the

¹⁴ See ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (unappealed ruling is law of the case); Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 161, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (1970) (an unchallenged ruling, "right or wrong, is the law of this case and requires affirmance.").

¹⁵ See Fabian v. Lindsay, 410 S.C. 475, 488, 765 S.E.2d 132, 139 (2014); Windsor Green Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc., 362, S.C. 12, 17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct. App. 2004). See also In re Vic Supply

negotiations leading up to the formation of the Sales Contract. LGSF sold the property to Vista on an “as-is” “where is” “without recourse” and “with all defects” basis. LGSF, on behalf of Gulfstream and JHP, specifically disclaimed and was released, in a bargained for exchange, from all warranties and liabilities associated with the condition of the property. There was no “contract” between LGSF and the POA, and the purpose and effect of LGSF requiring Vista to include notice of those terms in the Master Deed was to ensure that subsequent converted condominium buyers had a means to receive notice that Gulfstream and JHP had no responsibility or liability for anything that Vista did with the property after Vista purchased the used rental apartment property from LGSF. It is easy to lose sight of this important distinction between “contract” and “notice” given that all of the POA’s arguments are premised on attacking the terms and validity of the contract between LGSF and Vista. The POA received notice of the disclaimers and releases contained in the Master Deed recorded by Vista (the Master Deed created the POA and governs its actions), but the POA is not a party to the Sales Contract between LGSF and Vista that disclaims and releases Gulfstream and JHP from liability related to LGSF’s sale of the rental apartment property to Vista. Therefore, the POA lacks standing to challenge the validity of the terms of the Sales Agreement. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court’s findings related to the enforceability of the Sales Contract on the grounds that the POA lacks that standing to challenge the terms of the Sales Contract.

Co., 227 F.3d 928, 931 (7th Cir. 2000) (“Obviously the fact that a third party would be better off if a contract were unenforceable does not give him standing to sue to void the contract.”).

3. The Sales Contract contains valid and enforceable releases and waivers.¹⁶

Contrary to the POA's protests, the Sales Contract is not an unenforceable exculpatory contract with the POA. An exculpatory contract involves a situation where a party obtains a waiver or release from potential liability for its future action or negligence. In other words, in an exculpatory contract the party seeks to be released before it has even undertaken performance of its duties under the contract. An agreement is exculpatory when it involves a release before-the-fact of performance. "Limitation of liability and exculpation clauses are routinely entered into" and this Court has routinely upheld even true exculpatory contracts in recognition of the freedom of private parties to contract as they choose.¹⁷

To the extent public policy disfavors exculpatory provisions in an agreement, it does so because such clauses might tend to promote a lack of due care by a party in its subsequent actions, because the party has already been released of any potential liability regardless of its due care or lack thereof.¹⁸ However, any such public policy concerns are not applicable in this case; in fact, the direct opposite situation exists in this case. The

¹⁶ This issue is directly responsive to the POA's Issue I(D).

¹⁷ See Gladden v. Boykin, 402 S.C. 140, 145, 739 S.E.2d 882, 884 (2013) (upholding a limitation of liability provision in a home inspection agreement which confined the liability of the inspection company to "a sum equal to the amount of the fee paid by the client for this inspection," and finding the clause neither unconscionable, nor violative of public policy); Huckaby v. Confederate Motor Speedway, Inc., 276 S.C. 629, 630, 281 S.E.2d 223, 224 (1981) (finding plaintiff's action against speedway for injuries sustained during a race was barred by a waiver and release voluntarily signed by plaintiff prior to entering the racetrack); McCune v. Myrtle Beach Indoor Shooting Range, Inc., 364 S.C. 242, 248, 612 S.E.2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2005) (upholding a release which explicitly and unambiguously limited paintball range's liability for negligence); S.C. Elec. & Gas Co. v. Combustion Eng'g, Inc., 283 S.C. 182, 192, 322 S.E.2d 453, 459 (Ct. App. 1984) (enforcing the language of an exculpatory clause in a contract for the sale of a boiler). "When a contract is entered into freely and voluntarily, contractual limitations are normally enforced." Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 573-574, 787 S.E.2d 498, 515 (2016), *reh'g denied* (July 13, 2016) (citing Ellis v. Taylor, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994)).

¹⁸ See McCune v. Myrtle Beach Indoor Shooting Range, Inc., 364 S.C. 242, 248, 612 S.E.2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2005).

contract at issue before this Court involves disclaimers and releases pertaining to the condition of a used rental apartment complex when it was sold years after Gulfstream and JHP had completed their services performed on behalf of LGSF.

The circuit court carefully considered the issue and properly concluded that the disclaimers and releases contained in the Sales Contract are not unconscionable and do not violate public policy. As stated by the circuit court and adopted by reference by the Court of Appeals: “[T]his Court does not perceive that it is the public policy of this state that no selling party can enter into a contract as to real property that would disclaim responsibility when the purchasing party intends to alter the use and legal nature of the property.” (R. 37).

4. **S. C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 does not apply and does not affect the validity of the waivers and releases in the Sales Contract.**¹⁹

The POA argues that S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10, commonly referred to as an anti-indemnity statute, prohibits the enforcement of the waiver and release terms contained in the real estate Sales Contract between LGSF and Vista. The statute does not apply here.

The anti-indemnity statute, by its own terms, applies only in relation to a promise or agreement for the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building, structure, etc. Furthermore, by its express terms, it only applies to a promise or agreement whereby one party agrees to indemnify the other party against liability for damages “arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promise” The statute does not apply to a sales contract pertaining to used pre-existing property. “Indemnity,” or “to indemnify,”

¹⁹ This argument is responsive to the POA’s Issue II and the arguments related to the South Carolina anti-indemnity statute.

means “to reimburse (another) for a loss suffered because of the third-party’s or one’s own act or default.”²⁰ An agreement to indemnify is not the same as an agreement to release or to waive claims or rights against another party. Moreover, the statute does not bar or restrict waiver or release agreements by a purchaser of previously improved (and used) real estate. Here, the contract between LGSF and Vista involved a contract for the sale of an existing (used) apartment complex. None of the provisions in S. C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 are presented in this case, as both the circuit court and Court of Appeals plainly and correctly observed.

As recognized by other courts, anti-indemnity statutes are primarily intended to prevent parties from eliminating their incentive to exercise due care. Such clauses are viewed skeptically because they constitute an effort to absolve a party from liability for its “future negligence.”²¹ The “public policy” underlying anti-indemnity statutes is generally recognized to be an intent to preserve the incentive for a party to exercise due care while it performs services in connection with the design or construction of a building. Such statutes, and the policy underlying them, have no application to releases, waivers, and disclaimers contained in a real estate Sales Contract arising long after the design and construction services have been performed.

²⁰ Indemnify, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

²¹ See Adloo v. H.T. Brown Real Estate, Inc., 344 Md. 254, 257 (1996).

B. AN ARCHITECT WHO DESIGNS AN APARTMENT COMPLEX AND A GENERAL CONTRACTOR WHO BUILDS AN APARTMENT COMPLEX DO NOT OWE ANY DUTY TO PERSONS WHO—YEARS LATER, AFTER THE APARTMENT COMPLEX HAS BEEN SOLD TO ANOTHER COMMERCIAL DEVELOPER WHO CONVERTS THE APARTMENT PROJECT TO CONDOMINIUMS—PURCHASED ONE OF THOSE CONVERTED CONDOMINIUMS.²²

- 1. The POA may not assert negligence claims against Gulfstream and JHP for purported defects in used commercial rental property that was converted into residential property by a sophisticated intermediate purchaser.**

The POA seeks to rely upon the decisions in *Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co.*²³ and *Beachwalk Villas Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. Martin*²⁴ as the foundation for its negligence claims against Gulfstream and JHP. However, as this Court has stated, the decision in *Kennedy* was a limited one. The exception to the economic loss rule as a defense to the negligence claim against a builder or designer “is a very narrow one, applicable only in the residential real estate construction context.”²⁵ Indeed, this Court said, “[a]t the time of our decision in *Kennedy*, we had no intention of the exception extending beyond residential real estate construction and into commercial real estate construction.”²⁶ Furthermore, review of the *Kennedy* decision reveals clearly the limitations of that decision and plainly reflects why it is not applicable in this case. This Court in *Kennedy* announced that the seminal policy in South Carolina, upon which that

²² This argument is responsive to the POA’s argument in Section I(A) of its brief addressing whether Gulfstream and JHP owe a duty of care to the POA and whether the circuit court erred in finding the implied warranty of workmanship is applicable in this case.

²³ *Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co.*, 299 S.C. 335, 344, 384 S.E.2d 730, 736 (1989).

²⁴ *Beachwalk Villas Condo. Ass’n, Inc. v. Martin*, 305 S.C. 144, 146-47, 406 S.E.2d 372, 374 (1991).

²⁵ *Sapp v. Ford Motor Co.*, 386 S.C. 143, 150, 687 S.E.2d 47, 51 (2009).

²⁶ *Sapp v. Ford Motor Co.*, 386 S.C. 143, 150, 687 S.E.2d 47, 51.

decision was based, was the “policy of protecting the new home buyer” or “innocent new home purchasers.”²⁷

The present case does not involve either a new home sale or a new home purchaser. The record is clear: When JHP and Gulfstream designed and constructed the property in 1999, the only intended purpose for both their work and the property was for LGSF’s commercial venture of apartment rentals. There is no evidence to support a finding that either Gulfstream or JHP were ever informed or aware the intended purpose of its plans and specifications was for condominiums to be sold or resold. The POA seeks to make a claim against Gulfstream and JHP for their activity years earlier in connection with the design and construction of commercial rental apartments. The POA did not purchase a new home (or a used home) designed or built by Gulfstream and JHP. They purchased condominiums that had been converted and created by other developers, designers, and contractors from property that had previously been operated for years as rental apartments.

As Judge Currie correctly explained in Ross Dress for Less, Inc. v. Lauth Const. Grp., LLC, “[i]n a professional negligence case, a plaintiff must establish that there is a duty that arises outside of a contract.”²⁸ That duty generally arises from a special relationship between the alleged tortfeasor and the injured claimant.²⁹ In the present case, there is no special relationship between Gulfstream or JHP (who designed and built rental apartments for a commercial entity in 1999) and the subsequently purchasers of condominiums converted from those apartments in 2005 by a separate developer (Visa),

²⁷ Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., 299 S.C. 335, 344, 384 S.E.2d 730, 736.

²⁸ Ross Dress for Less, Inc. v. Lauth Const. Grp., LLC, 2012 WL 2572042, *11 (D.S.C., filed 2 July 2012) (Citation omitted).

²⁹ Ross Dress for Less, Inc. v. Lauth Const. Grp., LLC, 2012 WL 2572042, *12.

designer and contractor. As Judge Currie observed, “*Kennedy* is not applicable in the commercial context and is a discussion of an exception to the economic loss rule, not an exception to the requirement that parties in a negligence action must have a special relationship to impose a legal duty.”³⁰

The public policy of South Carolina that the POA seeks to use as the sword against of JHP and Gulfstream is clearly stated to be a “policy of protecting the new home buyer.”³¹ In this case, the POA cannot be said to be, or to represent, purchasers of a “new” “home.” Furthermore, JHP and Gulfstream cannot be said to have designed and constructed a “new” “home” for sale. The apartment buildings that JHP and Gulfstream designed and constructed specifically for LGSF in 1999 were commercial property for rental only—not residential property for sale.

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